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radiotelephone service as part of the company’s 
efforts to expand its overseas service around 
the world. The company’s wireless unit was 
founded in 1989 and started commercial opera-
tions in Puerto Rico on 1991 as Cellular One. 
Acquired by SBC Communications in Septem-
ber 1999 and becoming part of the SBC Wire-
less Network, the company continued doing 
business as Cellular One.

In October 2000, BellSouth and SBC Com-
munications combined their U.S. wireless 
operations to form Cingular Wireless; the local 
operation became part of Cingular Wireless in 
2001, and in October 2004, Cingular acquired 
AT&T Wireless. In December 2006, AT&T 
acquired BellSouth and became part of One 
AT&T. 

“Our company has been very successful 
with many challenges throughout the years; 
for example, we have had three brand chang-
es since the establishment of our wireless 
business—from Cellular One to Cingular to 
AT&T,” Dávila said. “In each and every step, 
we have attained top-of-mind brand recogni-
tion and have continued to lead in the market. 
Most recently, we have been integrating the 
Centennial network and customers to AT&T’s 
HSPA+ 4G network.”

In Puerto Rico, Cingular rebranded to AT&T 
in May 2007 and its commitment to Puerto 
Rico customers, at the consumer, corporate and 
wholesale level, has been as strong as ever, if 
not stronger. From 2008 through 2010, AT&T 
invested nearly $225 million in its Puerto 
Rico wireless and wireline networks. Network 
enhancements such as these benefit countless 
consumers as AT&T customers take advantage 
of the numerous capabilities on their wireless 
devices.

Dávila added that AT&T has been at the 
forefront of technological developments and 
was the first to launch GSM (Global System 
for Mobile Communication) in Puerto Rico, 
selecting a technology route that was used by 
most of the world and had the ability to con-
tinue to evolve and increase speeds.

“We serve customers nationwide with a broad 
range of wireless voice and data services with 
the nation’s fastest mobile broadband network, 
and serve 95.5 million wireless subscribers,” 
Dávila said. “We also have the best worldwide 
coverage of any U.S carrier with voice cover-
age in more than 220 countries, data roaming 
in more than 200 countries and mobile broad-
band in more than 130 countries.” 

AT&T’s portfolio of products is aimed at ful-
filling the communications needs of consum-
ers and business customers. Consumers have 
a wide choice of comprehensive products and 
services including local, national and interna-
tional services for calling, messaging and data. 

“Our customers have access to a wide vari-
ety of industry-leading devices, from feature 
phones to robust integrated devices, netbooks, 
computer tablets, e-readers, mobile hotspots 
and much more,” Dávila said. “For our enter-
prise business customers, AT&T provides a 
single source for local, national, global and 
wireless voice and data services.”

Regarding business customers, Dávila said 
AT&T offers an extensive integrated enterprise 
mobility portfolio of both wireless and wireline 
connectivity options, including wireless devic-
es, mobile business applications and service 
plans that simply, effectively and seamlessly 
integrate with existing business information 
systems. And to boot, AT&T is a global leader 
in providing wholesale services to carriers, 
wireless-service providers, cable providers, 
systems integrators, Internet-service providers 
and content providers.

All in all, Dávila sees even brighter days 
ahead for AT&T in Puerto Rico, with the 
development of new technology that will help 
enhance the daily life of its clients.

“AT&T, as an industry leader, has demon-
strated its commitment to innovation, and we 
have been able to see how our industry has 
become an integral part of society’s day-to-
day activity, from business to everyday family 
planning and even pleasure,” Dávila said.  �

 Type of Business:  
Communications 

Year Founded:  
1936 (first arrived in Puerto Rico)

Local top representative:
José Juan Dávila, vice president & general 
manager for Puerto Rico & U.S. Virgin 
Islands Mobility & Consumer Markets

Local headquarters:
Guaynabo

Website: 
www.att.com

The success of AT&T is in its ability 
to deliver an extraordinary customer 
experience “every time, because we 
use guiding principles that place the 
customer at the center of everything 
we do, and ensure we follow them 

through with each and 
every customer.”

—José Juan Dávila, vice president & general manager, 
Puerto Rico & USVI Mobility & Consumer Markets

Continued from previous page
AT&T showcased once again its 
ability to foresee and respond to 
clients’ needs when this week the 

company announced the launch of 
       the first 4G BlackBerry from 

AT&T with improved 
browsing, high-speed 

4G capability, 
multitasking 
and powerful 

upgrades to the 
BlackBerry 7 OS.
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Local businesses won $923 mil-
lion in federal contracts last year, 

creating 18,500 direct jobs, while 
bolstering long-stagnant sectors such 
as apparel and offering hope for ex-
pansion for emerging industries such 
as information technologies. 

Yet, the local share of federal con-
tracts represents just 0.17% of this 
mammoth market, with the U.S. 
government buying more than $500 
billion in goods and services every 
year.

Even after factoring in expected 
cuts in federal spending over the next 
several years, the U.S. government 
will remain the biggest “business” in 
the world, and one to which Puerto 
Rico’s business community has paid 
only scant attention. 

Government and private-industry 
leaders say that despite the challenges 

facing local fi rms entering this mar-
ket, Puerto Rico has great chances of 
increasing its share, especially given 
competitive advantages stemming 
from federal procurement-preference 
regulations, as well as a competitive 
cost structure for many professional 
services and certain products we can 
provide. 

They also note formidable chal-
lenges to such growth, including 
“rules of play” that sometimes work 
against small and midsize fi rms en-
tering this lucrative market, as well 
as fi erce competition from businesses 
across the U.S. and the need to invest 
in marketing and related efforts to 
gain access for success.

The bottom line, however, is that 
the federal-procurement market rep-
resents a great opportunity to grow 
the local economy, which has been 
stagnating for the past fi ve years, 
they added.

“This can be a great economic-

development engine here in Puerto 
Rico. It has been one of the main 
economic-development strategies of 
this administration from the start,” 
said Economic Development & 
Commerce Secretary José R. Pérez-
Riera.

He cited an administration goal 
of increasing Puerto Rico’s share 
of federal contracts to more than $1 
billion by next year and doubling 
the current amount to $1.8 billion 
in 2015. 

“A priority for us is to strengthen 
the participation of Puerto Rico in 
the federal-procurement market as a 
mechanism to develop local industry 
and create jobs.” 

Government offi cials noted that 
even if it doubled the amount of fed-
eral contracts it receives, Puerto Rico 
would still be getting just 0.34% of 
all federal contracts, while adding an 
expected 18,500 jobs. 

Puerto Rico gains more 

federal-contract dollars than six 
states (Delaware, South Dakota, 
Montana, North Dakota, Vermont 
and Wyoming). Its $924 million 
federal-procurement bounty in 2010 
is close to the performance of Rhode 
Island, which won $933 million 
that year, and Vermont, which won 
$889.7 million. 

Most U.S. jurisdictions, how-
ever, outperformed the island by 
far. Two of the bigger winners are 
Washington, D.C., the seat of the fed-
eral government, which won $21.1 
billion in government contracts de-
spite its small size, while Virginia, 
the home of the Pentagon and many 
other important U.S. government 
facilities, received $58.1 billion in 
contracts in 2010. 

Also last year, Florida received 
$9.6 billion, Massachusetts $15.5 
billion, New Jersey $9.8 billion, 
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Hawaii $2.7 billion and Alaska $2.4 
billion.

It isn’t far-fetched, therefore, to 
envision the day when Puerto Rico 
will reach the $5 billion range. At the 
current pace of 15,000 to 20,000 jobs 
for every $1 billion or so in federal 
contracts, that would mean 75,000 
to 100,000 jobs.

STAGGERING NUMBERS
Since the federal government hires 

companies from many industries for 
a wide range of work, the jobs would 
run the gamut.

Currently, nearly half of federal 
contracts won by local fi rms are for 
apparel made mostly for U.S. military 
agencies, while 30% to 40% are re-
lated to construction work, with most 
of the balance taken up by fi lling or-
ders for federal agencies located on 
the island, said Pedro Acevedo, who 
heads the commonwealth’s Federal 
Contracting Center (FeCC), which 
orients local fi rms on accessing the 
federal-contracts market. 

The numbers are staggering. The 
federal government spends $157.3 
billion annually on manufactured 
computers, electronics, metal and 
machinery products, and $26.22 bil-
lion on other manufactured goods, 
including food, textiles and apparel. 
Uncle Sam also spends some $152.4 
billion on professional, technical and 
scientifi c services each year and 
around $90 billion on information 
technology.

“Federal government agencies 
spend billions of dollars on goods 
and services every year,” said Juan 
Woodroffe, a former Puerto Rico In-
dustrial Development Co. (Pridco) 
and Commerce Development Ad-
ministration chief who, through his 
fi rm Juan Woodroffe & Associates, 
advises companies on how to enter 
the federal-procurement market. 
“Firms in Puerto Rico can compete 
for this business just like any other 
fi rm across the U.S.”

Puerto Rico’s poor performance in 
the federal-contracts market—and 
the big opportunities for improve-
ment—was a topic of discussion 
during the White House Task Force 
on Puerto Rico’s economic-devel-
opment summit held here during 
President Barack Obama’s historic 
visit in June, with top federal offi -
cials recognizing that improvements 
in this area could do a lot to help the 

local economy. 
“This area holds enormous po-

tential for Puerto Rico, and there 
is more awareness than ever before 
that Puerto Rico must substantially 
increase its current level of partici-
pation,” said attorney Andrés W. 
López, an organizer of Obama’s trip 
and a summit panelist who also ad-
vises fi rms on federal-contract pro-
curement. “Now, President Obama’s 
Task Force is squarely focused on 
that goal, and the Puerto Rico gov-
ernment is making positive strides in 
the same direction.”

PROCUREMENT PREFERENCES A 
BOON TO LOCAL FIRMS 

Puerto Rico fi rms, by virtue of 

being U.S. fi rms, have much easier 
access to the federal-procurement 
market than its geographical neigh-
bors thanks to the Buy American 
Act, a law born during the Great 
Depression that requires the U.S. 
government to give preference to 
U.S.-made goods and services in 
its purchases. (Exceptions to this 
rule include emergency purchases 
and when a needed U.S.-made good 
or service is not readily available, 
which is often the case for U.S. agen-
cies in foreign countries.)

At the same time, federal-govern-
ment buying preferences give virtu-
ally all Puerto Rico fi rms minority 
purchase preference and related ben-
efi ts, which can help them compete 
against stateside counterparts.

Most of these preferences are laid 
out in a 1978 law, which made ma-
jor revisions to the Small Business 
Act and stipulates that the federal 
government give opportunities in 
its purchases of goods and services 
to small businesses, disadvantaged 
businesses, and women-owned and 
veteran-owned businesses, as well as 
businesses located in economically 
depressed areas. 

For large contracts (more than 
$650,000, or in the case of con-
struction contracts, more than $1.5 
million), the contractor must award 
subcontracts according to the same 
procurement-preference schedule, 
and inform the awarding agency how 
it intends to give such fi rms a fair 
chance to compete for the work. 

In general, 23% of all U.S. govern-
ment contracts should be awarded 
to small businesses, which are de-
fi ned by the U.S. Small Business 
Administration (SBA) according 
to annual revenue or employee-size 
standards for each industry. For in-
stance, manufacturing outfi ts can 
have up to 500 employees and still 
qualify, while trade industries can 
have up to 100 employees.

Another 5% of federal purchases 
are aimed at women-owned and/
or small disadvantaged businesses, 
which are defi ned by the owner hav-
ing a net worth of up to $250,000, 
excluding the owner’s primary resi-
dence, retirement savings and invest-
ment in the business.

Meanwhile, another 3% of federal 
purchases are aimed at disabled-
veteran-owned businesses and those 
located in so-called HUBzones, 
an SBA acronym for Historically 

Underutilized Business Zones. This 
is another advantage for local fi rms, 
as nearly the entire island is classi-
fi ed as a HUBzone, said Acevedo, 
who added that a revision was to take 
place shortly, factoring in the latest 
U.S. Census data. 

The more preference attributes a 
particular fi rm possesses, the more 
attractive it will be to a federal-gov-
ernment contractor, the government 
and private-sector experts said. 

Perhaps the most powerful of the 
preferences, however, is the so-
called 8(a) designation, named af-
ter the SBA Business Development 
Program aimed at “helping socially 
and economically disadvantaged 
entrepreneurs gain access to the 
economic mainstream of [U.S.]
society.” 

One of the main ways it accom-
plishes this is by granting access to 
such fi rms in the world of federal-
government procurement. 

To qualify, a small business must 
be owned and controlled by a social-
ly or economically disadvantaged 
individual, which under the Small 
Business Act includes minorities 
such as Hispanic Americans. 

The program allows federal agen-
cies to set aside contracts for specifi c 
8(a) fi rms that prove they can fulfi ll 
the contract, Acevedo said. For large 
contracts of more than $3 million, 
government agencies hold special 
bids in which only 8(a) companies 
compete. 

“Getting your 8(a) designation is 
your license to hunt for preferential 
government contracts,” Woodroffe 
said. 

COMPETING IN THE USA 
Competition with Puerto Rico’s 

important sectors such as manufac-
turing and tourism often comes from 
foreign destinations, usually with 
lower labor and operating costs. 

The battle for federal contracts, 
however, is mainly a U.S. game, and 
Puerto Rico, in many areas, can of-
fer services and goods at lower costs 
than fi rms located in wealthier areas 
of the U.S. Its language and culture 
also can often be put to work for 
competitive advantage. 

“We are unique. Our employees 
are bilingual and bicultural, and our 
pricing is very competitive in many 
sectors,” Woodroffe said. “The av-
erage salary in Puerto Rico is about 

Continued from previous page
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“Getting your 8(a) 
designation is your 

license to hunt 
for preferential 

government contracts.”
—Juan Woodroffe, former Puerto Rico 

Commerce Secretary and a leading 
federal-procurement consultant
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BY MARIO BELAVAL DÍAZ

AT&T has kept its lead in the local com-
munications market by answering to 

those who have the last word when it comes to 
mobile needs and solutions: the client.

In fact, José Juan Dávila, AT&T’s vice pres-
ident & general manager for Puerto Rico & 
U.S. Virgin Islands Mobility & Consumer 
Markets, said the success of the company is 
in its ability to deliver an extraordinary cus-
tomer experience “every time, because we 
use guiding principles that place the customer 
at the center of everything we do, and ensure 
we follow them through with each and every 
customer.

“Ours is a fast-paced industry that must rap-
idly respond to customer demands for better 
products that provide enhanced mobility ser-
vices,” Dávila said. “That means you need a 
better network, better products and services, 
and the structure to support them, while pro-
viding the best customer experience.” 

AT&T showcased once again its ability to 
foresee and respond to clients’ needs when 
this week the company announced the launch 
of the first 4G BlackBerry from AT&T with 
improved browsing, high-speed 4G capabil-
ity, multitasking and powerful upgrades to the 
BlackBerry 7 OS. 

“AT&T is using its own wireless technol-
ogy to reach customers and generate feedback 
as quickly as possible after a customer visits 
a Mobility store,” Dávila said. “This feed-
back tool is a key step to implementing the 
‘Retail Promise’ initiative, which is intended 
to focus our retail-sales reps on solutions-
based selling.”

AT&T has had quite a long experience in 
Puerto Rico, having originally arrived on 
the island’s shores back in 1936 to offer 
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 AT&T 
answers clients’ call when it comes to service and technology

TECHNOLOGY & TELECOMMUNICATIONS
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José Juan Dávila, vice president & general manager, Puerto Rico & USVI 
Mobility & Consumer Markets
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TECHNOLOGY & TELECOMMUNICATIONS

BY MARIO BELAVAL DÍAZ

ACP & Associates, a proj-
ect-management, architec-

ture & design company based in 
Caguas, plans to keep its clients in 
its sights with new virtual, wire-
less infrastructure that will keep 
them informed in real time about 
the progress and stages of their 
projects.

However, Ariel Conde, president & 
founder of ACP, said the technology 
being implemented in the company’s 
new state-of-the-art facility goes be-
yond mere communication.

“Projects don’t come to the offi ce, 
and are usually built in locations a 
considerable distance away from 
the client’s and our offi ce,” Conde 
said. “So we decided to take the cli-
ent to the project by investing in a 
3,000-square-foot facility that will 
have the latest and most advanced 
wireless technology.” 

Conde explained that one of the 
challenges in carrying out a project 
is to keep it as close as possible to 
the original idea in terms of design, 
time and investment. In reality, more 
than one factor—from weather con-
ditions to human nature—can affect 
this plan. 

“Let’s say a project inspector goes 
to the site and notices that a wall or 
some element of the project is quite 

different from what was originally 
planned or designed—maybe an 
angle is different, or the composi-
tion of the ground isn’t what was 
expected,” he said. “That inspector 
could call the other people involved 
on the phone, or ask them to come 
down to the site, or just wait until the 
next meeting—with our new tech-
nology, the inspector can do that us-
ing a [computer] tablet with audio 
and video, and give us, literally, a 
clear picture of the situation.”

Conde said this real-time access 
to a project site and to all personnel 
involved in a project helps facilitate 
one of the most important processes 
in the life of a project: decision mak-
ing. In fact, Conde said technologi-
cal tools such as tablets with audio 

and video capability, which also al-
low for in-person or long-distance 
conferences, facilitate addressing a 
situation—and thus developing and 
carrying out a contingency plan—as 
soon as possible.

“That whole process of decision 
making, that fl ow, from when a de-
cision is made to when it is put into 
effect, usually takes some six days 
to 10 days,” Conde said. “Now, with 
the implementation of our technolo-
gy, we can cut down that time to any-
where from 24 hours to 72 hours.” 

The implementation of this tech-
nology also has a healthy effect on 
clients and on those working on the 
projects as a whole, Conde said, 
“because just imagine the pressure 
clients go through when they have 

made a commitment of millions of 
dollars and expect the project to be 
open on a given date.

“That in turn will help pay the fi -
nancial obligation,” he said. “So this 
technology we offer the client and all 
those involved in a project brings the 
added value of peace of mind.”

ACP opened four years ago as an 
architecture & engineering division, 
but the experience and knowledge 
of its professionals led the company 
to grow naturally into the areas of 
planning & construction administra-
tion. Before that, Conde earned his 
experience and knowledge in public 
service as the principal engineer for 
José E. Aponte de la Torre, the late 
mayor of Carolina. Among the proj-
ects he guided as part of Aponte’s 
administration was the $300 million 
rejuvenation of the Carolina urban 
center.  � 

ACP & Associates invest in real-time project management

From left: Carlos Díaz Del Valle, Ramón Monsanto, Ariel Conde, 
Arcadio Peña Carreras and Samaira López Vilá

“Now, with the 
implementation of our 
technology, we can cut 

down that [decision 
making] time anywhere 

from 24 hours to 72 hours.”
—Ariel Conde, president & founder of 

ACP & Associates

30% lower than U.S. mainland sal-
aries. Yet, the federal government 
looks at a fi rm in Puerto Rico just 
like any other fi rm in the U.S.”

Puerto Rico’s pricing advantage is 
particularly strong in professional 
services, such as accounting, infor-
mation technology and architectural 
design, an area in which Puerto Rico 
also boasts an impressive roster of 
talent. 

Frank Sánchez Ruiz, a partner 
at PKF Torres Llompart, Sánchez 
Ruiz LLC Accountants & Business 
Advisers, said salaries in his fi eld 
on the island are 40% lower than in 
many U.S. locations. The fi rm is one 
of the few here that are breaking into 
the federal-procurement fi eld. 

Government offi cials looking at 
boosting federal procurement as an 
economic-development strategy are 
getting out the message to federal 
agencies that doing business with 
Puerto Rico fi rms “can be a part of 
the solution to cutting U.S. govern-
ment spending.” 

The Economic Development & 
Commerce Department (DDEC 
by its Spanish initials), through 
the FeCC, has organized several 
trade missions to Washington, D.C. 
aimed at increasing federal-contract 
awards and is sponsoring the Federal 
Contracting Conference & Expo 
2011 on Aug. 31 in San Juan, which 
will bring together more than 50 rep-
resentatives from 30 federal agencies 
and local businessmen looking to 
break into or expand their presence 
in federal procurement. 

“We got an extraordinary recep-
tion from the federal agencies, who 
let us know they weren’t aware that 
we could deliver so many important 
services to them,” Pérez-Riera said. 
“We want to send a clear message 
to the federal government that our 
businesses are more than capable of 
providing the goods and services the 
U.S. government is purchasing, at 
prices that make sense.” 

AN ABUNDANCE OF OPPORTUNITIES 
Government and private industry 

offi cials say signifi cant opportunities 
exist for just about every economic 
sector, with particularly strong po-
tential in a handful of industries. 

A big success story in this area is 
the island’s apparel industry, which 
long ago lost competitive advantage 

to low-wage destinations in Latin 
American and Asia, but has been 
kept afl oat by requirements that U.S. 
military and other government ap-
parel carry the “Made in the USA” 
label.

Today, some 13 fi rms operate 27 
plants and employ 10,000 workers 
here who mainly make uniforms for 
U.S. military personnel. 

“We have dozens of businesses 
manufacturing in Puerto Rico and 
with the potential to grow more 
thanks to federal contracts,” said 
Roberto Monserrate, vice president 
of the Puerto Rico Manufacturers 
Association. “It has truly represented 
a rebirth of this industry.”

Luis Cintrón, of CIMA 
Manufacturing, said there is still 
plenty of growth potential here, as 
the island gets about $350 million 
annually, while the Pentagon spends 
some $4 billion a year on apparel 
and related items, such as tents and 
leather products, covered under the 
“Made in the USA” rules. 

“We are just scratching the sur-
face,” he said. 

Acevedo sees a similar potential 
for federal-government contracts to 
bolster the electronic-components-
manufacturing sector, which, like 
apparel, once thrived here but has 
been losing business for the past 
20 years to lower-wage markets in 
Asia. 

Two other major areas are informa-
tion technologies and accounting-re-
lated services. Both local industries 
have great talent working for salaries 
substantially lower than their state-
side counterparts. 

The federal government is expected 
to increase information-technology 
spending to more than $100 billion 
annually, as it looks to increase its 
online presence and better integrate 
its vast computer systems. 

Having an army of bilingual com-
puter engineers also works to in-
crease Puerto Rico’s competitive-
ness in this area, government and 
industry offi cials said. 

Two fi rms—Excellere Consulting 
Associates and Xtrategit—are 
already certifi ed to do business 
with the U.S. General Services 
Administration (USGSA) and have 
nailed down promising leads from 
a recent commercial mission to 
Washington, D.C.

Excellere believes the opportunity 
is so great in the fi eld that it now has 

a full-time staff member in the U.S. 
capital hunting for federal-govern-
ment contract work, partner Víctor 
López Rosario said.

Federal agencies are also going 
green. The USGSA recently an-
nounced improvements to facili-
ties and new construction will be 
green or LEED certifi ed. LEED is 
short for Leadership in Energy and 
Environmental Design, the industry 
standard for green facilities. This 
represents a great opportunity for the 
hundreds of LEED-credentialed pro-
fessionals and fi rms in Puerto Rico.

The U.S. military is also under-
going a vast green conversion. The 
Army alone announced last week 
the creation of the Energy Initiatives 
Offi ce to farm out $7.1 billion in re-
newable-energy projects during the 
next 10 years.

Substantial opportunities also ex-
ist for CPA fi rms, which the federal 
government hires to do everything 
from auditing the expenditure of 
federal funds granted to nonprofi t 
organizations in foreign countries 
to performing outside audits of 
federal-government agencies, said 
Néstor Kercadó Sánchez, of Kercadó 
Estrada & Co., a CPA and business-
advisory fi rm. 

Woodroffe said Puerto Rico should 
concentrate on its strengths and look 
to develop niches within the vast 
federal-procurement fi eld. 

For example, because of the large 
number of pharmaceutical fi rms here, 
many construction fi rms have devel-
oped expertise in building high-tech 
facilities and clean rooms that can 
be put to work as they look to win 
federal contracts. 

Another natural niche for local 
fi rms could be catering to the needs 
of federal agencies located in foreign 
countries in the region. 

Woodroffe told of one contractor 
experienced in security systems that 
won a contract for an embassy in a 
foreign country on the strength of 
having built a similar facility in San 
Juan for the U.S. Marshals Service. 

Finally, the burgeoning Hispanic 
population across the U.S. also 
will present greater opportunities, 
government and industry leaders 
believe. 

Pérez-Riera said the trend would 
make federal contracting offi cials 
more sensitive to ensuring that 
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“This is a change 
of culture. We have 
become accustomed 
to doing business at 

home and get 
panicked at the 

thought of doing 
business outside 

Puerto Rico.”
—CPA Luis Torres Llompart, 

former president of the Puerto Rico 
Chamber of Commerce

Attorney Andrés López said the federal 
procurement market holds ‘enormous 

potential’ for Puerto Rico.



Hispanic-owned businesses are being 
allowed to compete fairly for gov-
ernment contracts, while Woodroffe 
pointed to more direct opportunities, 
such as selling local food to military 
commissaries.

BIG CHALLENGES 
FOR A BIG MARKET 

Despite the huge potential of the 
federal-procurement market, there 
are many challenges facing fi rms try-
ing to break into it. 

“The potential growth from feder-
al-government contracts is immense, 
but we haven’t known how to take 
advantage of it,” said Luis J. Torres 
Llompart, a partner with PKF Torres 
Llompart, Sánchez Ruiz. 

One reason for that is that the 
“rules of the game within the federal 
system” limit in certain ways some 
businesses from Puerto Rico and 
elsewhere, added Torres Llompart, 
who said as vice chair of the U.S. 
Hispanic Chamber of Commerce, 
he witnessed the diffi culties faced 
by many stateside Hispanic fi rms in 
accessing the market. 

One example of these rules, said 
José Maeso, executive director of the 
Puerto Rico Construction Cluster, 
was in federal construction bids that 
required fi rms to have experience in 
federal projects over the previous 
fi ve years, when a federal-govern-
ment construction freeze on the is-
land prior to the bidding made it im-
possible for local fi rms to comply.

Acevedo, however, said federal-
government offi cials have been 
made aware of the problem and that 
recent construction bids have been 
more open to local fi rms. 

In other cases, large government 
contracts require “a certain struc-
ture and capacity” which many local 
fi rms may lack. Torres Llompart said 
the government and private sector 
are pushing for the establishment of 
strategic alliances in such cases. 

“It could be that a single business 
from Puerto Rico wouldn’t have the 
opportunity to compete for a con-
tract, but two or three businesses al-
lied together in Puerto Rico could 
have lots of opportunities to com-
pete,” he said. 

The greater barriers to entering 
the federal-procurement market, 
business and government leaders 
said, have been a mix of fear, lack 

of knowledge of the market and the 
comforts of doing business in Puerto 
Rico. 

“This is a change of culture. We 
Puerto Rican businesspeople have 
become accustomed to doing busi-
ness at home and we get panicked at 
the thought of doing business outside 
Puerto Rico,” Torres Llompart said. 
“The growth is outside the Puerto 
Rico market, which is limited by 
its size. In simple terms, what we 
need to do is push the Puerto Rican 

entrepreneur to dare to move into 
this global world of business.” 

For Edgardo Bigas, executive vice 
president of the Puerto Rico Chamber 
of Commerce, it is more a lack of 
knowledge of how to tap the federal-
procurement market than fears of do-
ing business off-island that has held 
local businesses back. 

He said many chamber members 
are running businesses at 50% or 
60% of capacity and are perfect can-
didates to access these markets, but 

have no idea how to do it. 
Bigas said initiatives such as the 

orientation FeCC provides to lo-
cal fi rms, as well as its D.C. trade 
missions and the upcoming Federal 
Contracting Expo, “open the enor-
mous market of contracting with the 
U.S. government” to local fi rms, and 
should be supported. He said they 
were particularly timely given the 
island’s long economic stagnation. 

“Puerto Rico has been living over 
the past fi ve years through a period of 
economic stagnation in which when 
one business grows, it is usually at 
the expense of another,” Bigas said. 
“We have been seeing that trend in 
our membership information for 
years now.”

WAYS TO GET IN
There are many ways for local fi rms 

to break into the federal-procurement 
market. Firms can market their goods 
and services via the USGSA sched-
ule, which is an electronic catalog 
from which procurement offi cials 
from across the federal government 
make purchases.

Firms can also compete directly 
for agency bids or seek to get a 
subcontract from an existing fed-
eral-government contractor. Both 
approaches have advantages and 
disadvantages.

Prime contractors will receive 
higher profi t margins and greater 
visibility from decisionmakers, 
which will allow them to compete 
more effectively for future contracts, 
Acevedo said. 

Prime contractors also get the 
blame if something goes wrong, and 
it requires greater knowledge and in-
vestment of time and resources to 
compete successfully.

“Subcontracting is a great way 
of entering this market,” Acevedo 
said. “It helps the business enter the 
market without all the responsibili-
ties, allowing it to get to know the 
process, build a performance record 
and get its feet wet.”

The fi nal route is through the SBA 
8(a) designation, which allows com-
panies to win set-aside contracts that 
aren’t open to formal bidding. 

Regardless of what route a com-
pany takes, however, marketing and 
research efforts are usually required 
for success. 

“Becoming 8(a) certifi ed doesn’t 

Continued on  page  20
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“You need to continuously walk the hallways 
of procurement agencies. Many small fi rms 
are so busy in their day-to-day activities that 

they believe they can’t afford the time 
needed to penetrate this market.” 

—Pedro Acevedo, 
director of the local government’s Federal Contracting Center
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TECHNOLOGY & TELECOMMUNICATIONS

BY MARIO BELAVAL DÍAZ

In spite of the tough local and international 
economic climate, R&D Systems Group Inc. 

has demonstrated steady growth in business 
and income that, according to president & 
founder Domingo García, proves the company 
is on the right track. The Carolina-based com-
pany, which also has offices in Miramar, Fla., 
specializes in providing a wide range of ser-
vices to businesses, from systems consulting, 
project management and application develop-
ment to full facilities management. 

“Thanks to our clients, who allow us to offer 
them the most innovative products, and to be 
not just their R&D solutions providers, but also 
partners in business,” García said. “Of course, 
the main reason for this success is our loyal and 
dedicated workforce, who have gone beyond the 
extra mile to get us where we are.”

In tough economic times, clients should consid-
er technology as a wise investment that can help 
in cutting operational costs while making opera-
tions leaner and more effi cient, García said.

One such solution is Panologic Zero Desktop 
Client, one of the most recent and proven tech-
nical solutions to help reduce costs and provide 
the information systems and services a company 
needs to compete.

“In the past, people thought bigger and faster 
desktop computers were the way to go, but for 
the everyday functions of many offi ce and home 
workers, that isn’t the case,” García said. “As re-
cently as fi ve years ago, companies began coun-
tering their costs by using a server-consolidation 
technology called virtualization.”

Through virtualization, a company took fi ve to 
20 physical servers and consolidated them into 
one large server that provided the same services, 
but more effi ciently, and dramatically reduced 
overall costs. Clients then addressed the cost is-
sue by what is known as desktop virtualization, 
whereby they moved underused desktop com-
puters to one large server as virtual desktops, 
receiving the same functionality but with greater 
effi ciency and much lower cost.

While a normal PC consumes around 150 watts, 
the Pano Zero Client consumes only fi ve watts, 
not to mention the reduced cost of the physical 

equipment and the centralized management of all 
user stations, which means no more technicians 
running around troubleshooting PC problems.

“Pano Zero Client is a perfect option for com-
panies that face the challenge of cutting back 
on their budget, but without having to sacrifi ce 
on the advantages of information technology,” 
García said. “We offer them a product that helps 
them be leaner and more effi cient, shedding the 
ever-increasing costs of PC refresh cycles and 
IT [information technology] technicians, and 
the overall costs needed to maintain 100, 500 or 
more desktops in their offi ces.” �

R&D Systems Group is well-tuned for success

From left: Luis Zayas, operations manager; Ángel Santana, reseller; Rosalind 
Ramírez, vice president; Domingo García, president; Yashira Martell, 

marketing & sales support assistant; Ángel Matos, system engineer; and 
Víctor Otero, executive business consultant
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from A to Z. Among Softek’s most successful 
products is the ISOtrain learning-management 
systems, which help companies keep in com-
pliance with requirements and regulations of 
the countries and jurisdictions in which they 
operate. 

ISOtrain Web 6, the current generation of the 
product, allows companies to meet enterprise 
business needs to track, schedule and organize 
the training process for a total quality-based 
training program. By emulating a manufactur-
ing environment, including corporate SOPs 
(Standard Operating Procedures), the Software 
Development Lifecycle (SDLC), the Qual-
ity Assurance Department, product validation, 
vendor audits and other operational functions, 
ISOtrain manages to exceed auditing standards 
and expectations. 

Softek has developed this software in 10 lan-
guages and currently implements, manages and 
supports more than 115 clients and more than 
300 installations throughout the world—right 
from its offices in Hato Rey.

Softek was one of two companies chosen 
to establish the sales-and-use-tax lottery, 
also known as IVU-Loto, a free lottery with 
biweekly drawings based on numbers printed 
on sales receipts, aimed at curbing IVU eva-
sion. Regionally, Softek successfully took on 
the task of upgrading the Dominican Repub-
lic’s civil registry and election board.

“And this is all done from here, in Puerto 
Rico; we might have partners in other countries 
that help us deal with the intricacies of those 
countries, but we are exporting a Puerto Rican 
product in the technological solutions that we 
develop,” Marta Londoño said. “The success 
of these solutions lies in the message that we 
try to convey to companies and businesses: 
Investment in technology transforms itself into 
benefits such as more efficient, productive 
operations and a quite noticeable increase in 
earnings.”

Rocío Londoño explained that through IT 
developed by Softek, clients in turn better serve 

their customers by catering exactly to their 
needs and tastes. 

“For example, we can develop applications 
that can keep a client, say like a chain of res-
taurants, in touch with their customers to see 
how their tastes are changing, or determine 
when certain clients come in most often, so 
they can offer certain specials,” she said, add-
ing that among these services are a variety of 
client cards, such as pre-paid cards, online pay-
ment sites and what are called gift and loyalty 
cards.

“IT is the way a local client can keep con-
nected to a world market that is enhanced every 
day by technology,” she noted, “and to better 
serve clients for whom technology is an essen-
tial part of their daily lives.”

Softek’s flexibility, creativity and philosophy 
that within the problems lies the solution have 
been essential in allowing the company to keep 
a steady and solid course during the past years’ 
tough economic climate.

“We truly see the glass half full instead of 
half empty, and believe that every situation 
present opportunities that not only allow you 
to face them, but also turn them in your favor,” 
said Londoño. “These are economic cycles, so 
we are taking the opportunity to develop new 
ideas and concepts, solidify our relation to our 
customers so we can be ready for that econom-
ic upswing when it comes.”

Londoño said one of the greatest assets the 
company has and the basis for its success is its 
employees, which throughout the history of the 
company have remained so loyal and dedicated 
that it has placed Softek at the top of companies 
with the least turnover. While in some compa-
nies employees may leave not even a year after 
being hired, Softek employees remain with the 
company some 10 years and more.

“We have an exceptional group of people, 
at all levels and positions in the company, and 
we value each and every one of them as the 
sources of the ideas that have made Softek a 
success,” said Julián Londoño. “We all have a 
solid sense of purpose and faith in our ability 
to produce new, fresh and unique ideas for our 
clients.”  �

 Type of business:  
Information technology

Year founded:  
1991

Top executive: 
Julián Londoño, president

Number of employees:
150

Location:
San Juan

Website: 
www.softekpr.com

“The success of these solutions 
lies in the message that we try to 

convey to companies and businesses: 
Investment in technology transforms 

itself into benefits such as more 
efficient, productive operations and a 

quite noticeable increase
in earnings.”

—Marta Londoño. vice president & partner at 
 Softek Inc. 

Continued from previous page

From left, siblings Marta Londoño, vice president & partner; Julián 
Londoño, president; and Rocío Londoño, vice president & partner, have 

created a positive working atmosphere that makes Softek one of the 
companies with the least turnover of employees.  

mean anything unless you go after 
the business,” Woodroffe said, add-
ing that the same is true for a US 
GSA-schedule listing, or hunting for 
prime contracts or subcontracts from 
government agencies.

“By the time a federal-government 
bid is published, it is usually too late 
to win it,” Acevedo added. 

Research on the types of purchases 
government agencies are making, 
as well as contractors already doing 
business with the federal govern-
ment, is important for success. 

Just like any business relationship, 
personal contacts can play a big role 
in federal-procurement decisions, 
since contracting offi cials want to be 
comfortable with the fi rms that will 
be working for their agencies. 

“You need to continuously walk 
the hallways of procurement agen-
cies,” Acevedo said. “Many small 
fi rms are so busy in their day-to-day 
activities that they believe they can’t 
afford the time needed to penetrate 
this market.” 

Woodroffe suggested the Puerto 
Rico government should “increase 
the heck out of marketing assistance 
to fi rms,” to help them undertake this 
very important part of cracking the 
federal-procurement market. 

While no specifi c incentives are 
available to fi rms going after federal 
contracts, Pridco does offer market-
ing incentives small businesses can 
tap for this purpose, Acevedo said. 
The agency also recently named a 
full-time promoter in Washington, 
D.C. to search for federal-contract 

opportunities for local fi rms. 
Economic Development Bank 

President Ivonne Otero Guzmán said 
the entity would roll out a special 
loan program aimed at the needs of 
small businesses wanting to tap this 

market during the Aug. 31 expo. 
In short, business and government 

leaders say, it takes some work to 
enter the federal-procurement mar-
ket, but the potential rewards make 
it worthwhile. 

“The No. 1 obstacle to companies 
from Puerto Rico winning more con-
tracts is not knowing that the federal 
government is always looking to ex-
pand its vendor base,” Woodroffe 
said. �
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The 12 steps to doing business 
with the federal government

 
1:  Find out the North American Industry Classifi cation System (NAICS)
code and the Federal Supply Classifi cation (FSC) code for your product or service at 
http://www.census.gov/eos/www/naics and http://www.outreachsystems.com/resources/tables/pscs.
 
2: Make sure your business falls within Small Business Administration Size Standards at
http://www.sba.gov/content/table-small-businesssize-standards.
 
3: Obtain a DUNS Number from Dunn & Bradstreet at http://www.dnb.com free of charge. 
This business identifi cation number is used like a Social Security number.
 
4: Register in the Centralized Contractor Registration (CCR) System at http://www.ccr.gov.
This is required to get a contract from federal civilian or military agencies.
 
5:  Determine if your fi rm qualifi es for 8(a), SDB or HUBZone certifi cation at http://www.sba.gov. 
This will allow you to compete for set-aside contracts.
 
6: Register in the Online Representations and Certifi cations Application
(ORCA) at http://orca.bpn.gov. This central repository holds your company’s certifi cations and 
can be accessed by any federal agency.
 
7: Check the FedBizOpps website for opportunities at http://www.fedbizopps.gov.
 
8: Civilian and Department of Defense (DoD) contracting legal procedures are found in 
The Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR) at https://www.acquisition.gov/far/index.html.
 
9: Find out how to get listed on the General Services Administration Schedule through 
which federal agencies can make purchases for goods and services at http://www.gsa.gov.
 
 10: Check the Annual Procurement Forecast of each federal agency to determine
 if they are potential buyers of your goods or services at http://www.acquisition.gov/comp/procurement_
forecasts/index.html.
 
11: Explore subcontracting opportunities through the SBA or the Department of 
Defense SADBU website at http://www.acq.osd.mil/osbp/doing_business/index.htm, 
which lists all prime contractors by state and point of contacts within each fi rm.
 
12: Explore SBA and DoD government mentoring programs that can help you break 
into this market at http://www.sba.gov and http://www.acq.osd.mil/sadbu.
 
Source: Federal Contracting Center 


